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Chair Unruh: Opened the public hearing, all members were present. 
  
Senator Myrdal, District 10, introduced the bill. The gist of the bill is a suggestion that 
local water resource boards are elected in general elections. A quick comment; these are 
important positions, there’s been a consensus over the years that if we get calls out in the 
rural areas, it’s property taxes, and water resource boards and landowners. Many of us on 
the Ag committee, we trust that your discretion to look into that opportunity. I think landowners 
don’t often have a recourse. A body of people that can assess fines upon your land would be 
better if it’s an elected body. That’s the intent behind the legislation.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: There’s a consensus among your people that it should be changed? 
 
Senator Myrdal: In the Ag community, related to water issues there’s been questions, water 
doesn’t respect political boundaries, we have water sheds. Water is an enormously important 
issue. This is an ongoing conversation, how to help people if they have no recourse on their 
property. 
  
Dan Wogsland, North Dakota Grain Growers Association (4:02-5:37) Testified in favor, 
please see attachment #1.  
 
Senator Cook: Do water boards still having eminent domain, or did we modify that? 
 
Dan Wogsland: I can’t answer that.  
 
Senator Cook: Do water districts have a $4 mill cap on their levy, do they have to have that 
approved by the County Commission? 
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Dan Wogsland: I would defer to the folks behind me, my sense is that they have that ability. 
Also they have the ability to enter in with other counties, and that expands that ability to levy 
taxes. One of the things that is disturbing is the fact that you can have some of these water 
boards run amuck and spend that money, and get more money and not get anything done 
with it. That’s something I think this bill can address; if some boards don’t do their job in the 
manner that they should, then we have an opportunity to do something at the ballot box. 
 
Chair Unruh:  I believe the checks and balances you are looking for, Senator Cook, are in 
place, but we do have some folks who know the answers. 
 
Leon Mallberg (8:00-18:55) Landowner, Sargent County, testified in favor. My farm has 
been in the Mallberg name for 127 years. I have never experienced anything so autocratic 
as the water board in Sargent County. School board members get elected, water boards 
handle almost as much money as school boards; but they’re appointed by the County 
Commissioner and they literally answer to no one. A newspaper article from Sargent County 
paper (please see attachment #2) In this article made in July 10, 2015, Mr. Anderson, while 
County Commissioner, pointed out that while the County Commission appoints members to 
the water board it is a self-governing entity and does not answer to commissioners. Other 
commissioners expressed the same sentiments, stating that those who are unhappy with the 
Sargent County Water Board should work with them directly to find solutions.  
I will tell you, someone who doesn’t have any compunction to work with you; you get nothing 
done. The situation I’m working with is called Drain 11 and the watershed for Drain 11. In the 
bill it talks about how we elect people different areas involved. The watershed for Drain 11 
covers several counties and a section of South Dakota. The water board has decided that 
Sargent County will bear the entire financial burden of maintenance and improvements, even 
though it has only 60.5% of the land area in the water shed. I have tried contacting all of the 
county boards, none of them want to talk to me. Drain 11 was constructed in 1917; for 80 
years nothing was improved. Starting in 2011, they started a special assessment, the law 
says they can special assess up to $4 an acre. $640 per quarter or $2560 for a section. In 
2011 it was $1 an acre; in 2017-2019 it’s $4 an acre, the maximum they can allow. It’s 
progressed out based on the distance from ditch. This bill is the first step to getting control of 
a situation that’s just plain unsatisfactory. In June, I wrote a letter to the county official paper, 
we wanted to decide whether to go ahead with this multimillion dollar project or not. The 
water board said no, we can finance it with the $4 levy and we don’t need permission. District 
court judge ruled in their favor, he said the statute had hands tied. (Please see attachment 
#3) “Positions and actions of the Board, subvert the intent of the sunshine laws are morally 
deficient...” This bill is the first step in correcting a situation that is totally out of control.  

 
Senator Piepkorn: You’re not a resident of these counties, you still wouldn’t have a vote. 
What confidence do you have that these elected officials would be more fair than these 
appointed officials?  
 
Leon Mallberg: I have faith in the people able to vote. If things were discussed properly, this 
is a positive approach. The law as it is proposed says when it goes into another district, you 
have to include that district on a board, and proceed from there. In the last 8 years Sargent 
County has spent $32,820 on maintenance on Drain 11. The reason they take dollars per 
acre is for maintenance. In that account, for Drain 11, $783,925, if $32,000 is the average 
annual cost, they have 20+ years of maintenance. Their goal is $1,072,685; that’s 32 years 
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of maintenance. Their idea is to finance a major construction project, break it into segments, 
so they don’t have to ask for permission. Each segment can be financed with the $4 per acre.  
 
Senator Piepkorn: What’s the problem with Drain 11? 
 
Leon Mallberg: I don’t know that there is a problem. It was built in 1917, the engineers say 
they have to widen the ditch, change the slope of the sides.  The ditch runs straight through 
my land; we don’t ever get more than a trickle. I understand it needs to be dredged 
occasionally, but not this multimillion-dollar project.  
 
Vice Chair Kreun: In this newspaper, Commissioner Anderson indicates they have no 
control over this particular board, why don’t they just not reappoint them?  
 
Leon Mallberg: County commissioners will tell you that this isn’t a position that people seek 
out. In most cases, the easiest way out is to reappoint them. Up until last November, the 
Secretary Treasurer of the water board was the County Commissioner.  
 
Vice Chair Kreun: Careful what you ask for, we don’t know the ins and the outs of that 
particular situation. These individuals should know what that problem is, they’re the ones that 
should take the bull by the horns. I understand what you’re saying; but are we supposed to 
come and be the ones to determine what happens in those particular situations. Why wouldn’t 
you go to the County Commissioners and ask them to replace that group of people. 
 
Leon Mallberg: Upon calling County Commissioners, I was told, you have to talk to the water 
board. 
 
Senator Roers: When you’re looking at such a large geographical area, and you have one 
person who represents that, how do you go about electing that person when you’ve got 
multiple counties and county boards? Do we need to define watershed regions? 
 
Leon Mallberg: I suggested that as an option, I don’t know of very many watersheds that 
don’t slide over county lines. However, the solution was, we will put a water board in each 
county. Now you have my territory versus their territory.  That’s what happening right now, I 
can’t believe that our water board would push this situation where 60% of the land area 
covers 100% of the cost. 
 
Senator Roers: What does happen when you have this Drain 11 that covers three counties?  
Is there a representative from each county? 
 
Leon Mallberg: Right now, the water board has contacted and met with Ransom, who said 
we don’t want anything to do with you. The water board didn’t even contact Dickey County.  
 
Gary Thompson Chairman, Red River Joint Board (30:00-32:40) testified against 
please see attachment #4. The last appointment in Traill County took three years to fill a 
board member vacancy due to the fact that nobody wanted the job. When County 
Commissioners are looking for person to appoint, they first look for experience. Someone 
that is on, or has been on a township board, e.g. Township members have to deal with water 
issues as well, when it comes to the protection of their road systems. They are indirectly 
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involved in the water. The County Commission look at this as a great experience to be on 
the water board. If water members are to be elected, experience can be an issue, and believe 
me, you can’t get educated overnight. We urge a do not pass. 
 
Senator Cook: It’s possible for water districts to combine, correct?  You are a joint board, so 
is it safe to assume people in this joint board are also in another water district?  
 
Gary Thompson: That is correct. The joint board is the way we look at it, through a 
watershed type organization. We have a joint powers agreement. Any number of counties 
can join, which is what we’ve done. There are others out there, not just the Red River Joint 
Board. Devil’s Lake has a joint board as well.  
 
Senator Cook: If you own property in North Dakota, you are in a water district, is that true? 
 
Gary Thompson: I believe so, I’m thinking about North Dakota water resources districts 
association, and we charge dues, I think they all have yes, but they don’t all pay the dues 
into our organization.   
 
Senator Cook:  I don’t think this legislation addresses the election of water district officers if 
you are in multiple districts. I am just thinking out loud, the challenge of electing officers when 
you are in more than one district.  
 
Gary Thompson:  As in the drain? One of the questions asked earlier was, if you have three 
counties in a drain, you have to ability to form a joint powers agreement for that drain. You 
do have members from each county, that represent that county for that assessment area. 
 
Senator Cook: What is your mills levy cap as a water district?  
 
Gary Thompson: Our mill levy is a total of 4 mills, that is controlled and approved by the 
County Commission, we do not approve that, we ask for that in our budget.   
 
Senator Cook: When you increase the mill levy tax, that increase is included in the County 
tax line, on the property tax statement, and when they send out a truth in taxation letter, any 
increase you have, they take responsibility for it. Is that correct?  
 
Gary Thompson: Trying to separate the maintenance from the mill levy. There was some 
discrepancy. If we are talking about the mill levy; it’s a we go in and request the mills we 
need. The County Commission puts it in their budget, advertises, has a hearing, and 
approves that way.  
 
Senator Cook: There’s a section of code that deals with water district assessments policy. 
Perhaps we could get a print out of that.  Explain to us what the process is for levying an 
assessment. 
 
Gary Thompson: The assessments are the toughest and hardest part of the job, being on 
a water resource board. Like I said earlier, in a drain project, it is a voted project, it has to 
pass by a simple majority. We try to look at the assessments along the channel itself, which 
is 100% assessed. The vote is on the total dollars of your assessment. If you have a $10,000 
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per quarter, it’s 10,000 votes. So you have the most votes at 100%. That is prorated, could 
be 90% down 10%, maybe 5%, whatever a water board does. The assessments, there is a 
protest hearing for those assessments; we as a water board have that hearing to look and 
see, did we screw up, did we make a mistake, we listen to that landowner and we have 
changed.  What they tell us, we didn’t think about. Along the drain itself is a no-brainer, it’s 
when you get further away it really gets tough.  
 
Senator Cook: If I live in Mandan and have land in your water district, would I get a vote?  
 
Gary Thompson: Yes, if you’re a landowner, you get a vote. We call absentee landowners; 
you get a vote.  
 
Senator Cook: So Mr. Mallberg in Sargent County should have had a notice of any 
assessment and should have been allowed to vote?  
 
Gary Thompson: Correct.  
 
Senator Roers: An earlier presenter talked about up to $4 per acre assessments, you’re 
correcting that and saying its 4 mills per acre? 
 
Gary Thompson: There is a total of $4 maintenance on a legal drain. There is a 4 mill we 
get for general fund, there’s your difference. At 100% assessment on a legal drain, it’s up to 
a $4 per acre maintenance fund, again prorated to your assessment. 
 
Senator Roers: In your district, the Red River Joint Board, have you ever assessed that kind 
of money? $4 on the maintenance?  
 
Gary Thompson:  That is a different animal again. That is a mill levy again. We go to your 
County Commission and asks for up to 2 mills. That is what we run the Red River Joint Board 
on. That is a retention board. The water resource districts of each county can have a project 
that’s retention or a drain project. The Red River Joint Board helps pay for those projects. It’s 
a grant through the joint board, up to the 2 mils. Again, going to ask the County 
Commissioners for those 2 mills, just like we do for our 4 mills for our general fund through 
the water resource districts within each county.   
 
Arv Burvee, Richland County Water Resource Board (42:10-46:20) testified in 
opposition, please see attachment #5.  
 
Chair Unruh: You mentioned previous legislatures, I think every session I’ve served, we’ve 
seen a bill to adjust the authority of a water resource board, whether it’s making them elected 
officials or making sure there’s proper checks and balances for the County Commission. If 
this isn’t a solution that is necessary, do you see a solution to those issues that come up 
every session that is reasonable? 
 
Arv Burvee: I think the current system works. I think the County Commission who are 
elected, they serve as a pretty powerful oversight group. If they don’t like what the water 
board or individual water manager is doing, they will take steps to correct it locally. As I said 
in my testimony, I have seen people removed from the water board managership because of 
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they weren’t doing their job, the County Commissioners at that time took the appropriate 
steps and removed them and sought somebody else out. I think that you are always going to 
have disgruntled people. I’ve learned in my 22 years of service on the water resource board, 
that’s my burden for having been a juvenile delinquent. Water can be a contentious issue, 
you’re always going to have people who don’t like what’s going on, they feel as though they’re 
being cheated. I don’t think there is a need for a change to current law. 
 
Senator Roers: Your watershed is one county? 
 
Arv Burvee: Yes. That’s by state law, it sets it up so counties as a whole can be a water 
resource district or they can go by watersheds. I know Cass County has four different water 
resource boards, because they have four watersheds in our particular case, Richland County 
is set up so that the whole county is represented by one water resource board. 
 
Vice Chair Kreun: You do feel that the County Commission is the appeals committee to the 
decisions the water board makes? 
 
Arv Burvee:  Oh you bet; if they’re doing their job. They’re water board reflects on them.  
In regards to mills vs assessment. The 4 mills that’s been talked about, we as a water board 
ask the County Commission for a mill levy, up to 4 mills, to cover the annual operating cost 
of the water board. We don’t have to ask for the 4 mills, they don’t have to give us the 4 mills, 
they can give us whatever they want to give us, down to zero I imagine. In our case in 
Richland County, we don’t ask for mills, we know what a mill is, and each county has a 
different mill rate. We ask for the dollars we need to back our budget, and we try to keep it 
under 4 mills. That seems to work better as a request. The $4; that’s a maintenance levy to 
maintain a legal drain, by state law, we can assess up to $4 on an annual basis for drain 
maintenance, the most that we can collect is 6 years, that’s all we can have on hand. $4 by 
6 years. Once we reach that max, we cannot assess anymore for maintenance dollars for a 
particular drain. We can put that levy on without a vote. We don’t have to go to the taxpayers, 
the property owners for a vote on that. If it’s a new drain assessment or reconstruction of a 
drain or we’re looking to raise a large amount of money, that has to go to a vote of the people 
that are in that drain assessment area. Their vote is on a weighted measure method, the 
more benefit they get, the more power their vote has. In the case we heard this morning 
where a water resource board is assessing up to 21 years’ worth of assessments, they may 
be doing it, but that’s not legal. I doubt they’re doing something illegal like that.  
 
Gary Thompson:  I’d like to clear up a little bit of what Arv just said. That $20 is probably 
how much it’s costing them per year on the brand new drain. It could be anywhere from $5-
$30. At $30 they’re probably not going to vote for the drain, but the $20 could be drain cost 
per year, might be $250 per acre for 20 years.  
 
Greg Larson, Chairman of the Burleigh County Water Resource District (55:08) 
Testified against. I wanted to make two points: you clearly understand water decisions are 
contentious, and that we make not-friends and friends. I have been around water and water 
provision for over 27 years. I had been asked by Burleigh County Commissioners to be on 
the water resource district for at least 10 years before I said yes. I haven’t thanked them yet. 
My point is that because there’s so much contention, we go to elections, I promise you the 
ones who run will have an agenda. If I have to raise money, spend my time campaigning to 



Senate Energy and Natural Resources Committee  
SB 2174 
1/18/19 
Page 7  
   

run for this office, I wouldn’t do it, it’s not worth it. I like serving, I wouldn’t do that. No one on 
my board would do that, I’ve done a straw poll of water resource district managers; not one 
would run for election. If we do this, we are going to lose a whole lot of institutional memory 
and people who have bit the bullet and done this. 
The other point to make is that because we are appointed, I think the arm’s length is a good 
thing because of the contentious we make; those decisions are regulatory. The regulatory 
decisions we make are in century code, we enforce them when there’s a complaint, it’s no 
different than the Highway Patrol, no different than The Department of Transportation. None 
of those positions are elected either, they are enforcing regulatory law. When we undertake 
a new project, people come to us, they want it, we do our required research to give them 
informed information so they can make a decision to ask to be taxed to do the project that 
will benefit them. We don’t set it up, we don’t impose the tax, it’s an assessment, they ask to 
be taxed. That’s how assessments work.   
 
Senator Cook: How many water districts in Burleigh County? 
 
Greg Larson:  One. We are also a member of the Lower Missouri Joint Water Resource 
District. Which encompasses the five counties south of Lake Sakakawea.  
 
Senator Cook: There’s a 4 mill cap that you go to the County Commission for approval. If 
somebody was to end up in two districts, it’s possible that they could be paying more than 4 
mills for water districts, is that correct? 
 
Greg Larson: You’re talking about a landowner? A landowner would be subject to the mill 
levies in each county.  
 
(Disagreement from the gallery) 
 
Jack Dwyer, North Dakota Water Districts Association: (58:50) Water resource districts 
can levy up to 4 mills; and any water resource district can form a joint water resource board 
with a neighboring county along a watershed. The water resource board can levy up to 4 
mills, and a joint water resource board can levy an additional 2 mills. So any landowner could 
be subject to additional levies that exceed 4 mills. 
 
Senator Cook: Is it possible to end up in three water districts? 
 
Jack Dwyer: Yes, it is possible. A piece of land could be subject to a 4 mill levy and another 
2 mills for any joint water board that that land is in.  
 
Terry Trainer, Association of Counties (1:01:05) Testified against. You would think that 
County Commissioners would be pleased to offload it, but they are not. We discussed this 
last week on their conference call, and they feel that the current structure is most appropriate, 
and they would be opposed to the bill, just from the discussion and my understanding, which 
is very superficial, this bill would not accomplish what the sponsors want, because there are 
so many interrelationships between the water board and the County Commission, just saying 
we’ll elect them is not going to create a separate political subdivision, what it seems is desired 
here. There is so much more, the taxing authority being one of them.   
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Chair Unruh: Closed the hearing. 
 
Attachment #6 Testimony against, submitted by Jack Dwyer on behalf of Roger 
Gunlikson. 
Attachment #7 Testimony against, submitted via email. 
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A bill relating to the election, appointment, terms, and number of water resource board 
managers. 
 

Minutes:                                                 No attachments  

 
Chair Unruh: Opened committee work. 
Chair Unruh: Is anybody working on amendments or changes for this bill? Do we need more 
time? 
  
Senator Piepkorn: I don’t recall anybody working on any amendments, maybe we just ran 
out of time. 
 
Chair Unruh: If anybody has a motion they’d like to make, otherwise we can revisit this 
tomorrow.   
 
Chair Unruh: Closed committee work.  
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A bill relating to the election, appointment, terms, and number of water resource board 
managers. 
 

Minutes:                                                 No attachments  

 
Chair Unruh: Opened committee work. 
 
Vice-Chair Kreun: There’s a huge amount of individual this would affect across the state. 
I’m curious what the numbers would be. We start adding that many more political divisions, I 
don’t know that they would have the effect we would desire. I would much rather see that our 
county commissioners still the oversight of the people they appoint to these boards, and 
make sure they’re accountable to the people. That’s my recommendation. 
 
Chair Unruh: As I look through our testimony, I see there was a specific issue, the Drain 11 
issue. There was a district court decision, I had our intern look into this decision in district 
court which happened just last year in April, which had a quote that was disturbing to me. 
“Positions and actions of the Board subvert the intention of the sunshine laws are morally 
deficient and do anything but instill faith and confidence in local government,” that’s a pretty 
strong statement to make in a decision, we couldn’t get ahold of the whole document, but 
that’s what caused my pause. I’m not sure that’s enough to convince me that we need these 
folks to be elected.  
 
Senator Cook: I move do not pass. 
Vice-Chair Kreun: Second  
 
Senator Piepkorn:  I don’t think that overall the testimony to change to an election from an 
appointment was compelling enough to contradict the testimony that generally speaking this 
works pretty well.  
 
Senator Cook: Leon Malberg made the testimony where this quote is quoted. He also stated 
he never received any notification that his property was going to be assessed. I’m not saying 
that didn’t happen, but they do notify vacant property owners. It should work out there. Maybe 
he threw it away. They have a vote even if he doesn’t live in the county where his land is.  
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A roll call vote was taken. 
Passes 6-0-0 
 
Senator Piepkorn: will carry. 
 
Chair Unruh: Closed the meeting. 
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